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Dear Shareholder, 

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report of Belle Mare Hold-
ing Limited  for the year ended 31 December 2014. This report was approved by the 
Board on 31 March 2015.

(s) George J. Dumbell (s) Jean Ribet
     Chairperson      Director 
      Group Chief Executive Officer

BELLE MARE HOLDING LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2014
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of the shareholders of the Company will be held on Monday, 
8 June 2015, at 10.30 a.m. in the Boardroom of Constance Group, 5th Floor, Labama House, 35 Sir William 
Newton Street, Port Louis, to transact the following business:

1. To consider the Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2014

2. To receive the report of BDO & Co., the external auditors of the Company

3. To consider and approve the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2014

4. To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the external auditors, BDO & Co., who have 
expressed their willingness to continue to act as external auditors of the Company and will be automati-
cally reappointed

5. To approve directors’ remuneration 

6. By separate resolutions and in accordance with article 21.2 (1) of the Constitution of the Company, to 
re-elect the following persons who, retiring by rotation, offer themselves for re-election as directors of the 
Company:

 a. Mr Marc Freismuth

 b. Mr Jean Ribet

 c. Mr Noel Adolphe Vallet

7. Shareholders’ questions.

By order of the Board

(s) Marie-Anne Adam, ACIS
For La Gaieté Services Ltd
Secretaries

13 May 2015

Notes

A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her 
stead. A proxy needs not be a member of the Company.

The instrument appointing a proxy, any general power of attorney or written resolution appointing a representative should reach the 
Company Secretary, at the registered office of the Company, 5th Floor, Labama House, 35 Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis, not 
less than twenty-four hours prior to the time scheduled for the meeting, i.e. by 10.30 a.m. on Friday, 5 June 2015 (being the last 
business day before the meeting). In default, the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

A proxy form is included in this Annual Report and is also available at the registered office of the Company.

For the purpose of this Annual Meeting, the directors have resolved, in compliance with section 120 of the Companies Act 2001, 
that the shareholders who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting and attend such meeting shall be those shareholders whose 
names are registered in the share register of the Company as at 12 May 2015.

Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders
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Dear Shareholder,

The directors of Belle Mare Holding Limited (BMH) have pleasure in presenting to you the Annual Report of the 
Company together with its Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Finance and Investment Plan

In 2014, the Company successfully implemented its strategy to restructure and diversify its investment portfolio, 
and strengthen its presence in the hospitality sector. As a result, a Finance and Investment Plan comprising of 
a rights issue for MUR 409 million to cater for the purchase of an additional 18.40% of Hotelest Ltd (Hotelest) 
shares and to subscribe, subsequently, to its share of the rights issues being undertaken by Hotelest and 
Constance Hotels Services Ltd (CHSL) respectively for a total of MUR 360.7 million was concluded.

Prior to these transactions, BMH held 11.61% of Hotelest, which in turn, holds a 51% stake in CHSL. CHSL is a 
major hospitality group in the Indian Ocean with a presence across this region and a portfolio comprising seven 
hotels and resorts under its management. With the acquisition of an additional 18.40%, the Company now 
holds 30.1% of Hotelest, having, thus, taken advantage of the attractive opportunity made available to diversify 
its portfolio and increase its investments in the hospitality sector.

Overall Performance and Key Financial Elements

In addition to the above-mentioned transactions, the Group investments appreciated during the year under 
review. Total assets reached MUR 2,459 million compared with MUR 1,828 million the previous year. Total 
investments stood at MUR 2,214 million (2013: MUR 1,622 million).

Group revenue from investment was MUR 32.6 million for the year, compared with MUR 43.3 million in 2013. 
This reduction is mainly attributable to dividend from certain unquoted investments being declared after year 
end. As a result, operating profit decreased to MUR 23.3 million (2013: MUR 39.3 million). However, after 
including the share of results of associates of MUR 17.1 million (2013: MUR 5.5 million), and an exceptional 
item of MUR 69.2 million resulting from the consolidation of Hotelest as an associate, as well as taxation of 
MUR 0.5 million, the profit attributable to the shareholders was MUR 108.7 million (2013: MUR 44.2 million). 

Business Overview

Economy

In spite of the difficult economic conditions still prevailing in our main markets, Mauritius GDP grew by 3.5% 
in 2014. Total investment continued to decline and dropped by -6.0% in 2014 after the -3.3% fall in 2013. 
Private-sector investment dipped further by -8.4% in 2014 after the negative growth of -2.8% in 2013, 
whereas public-sector investment rebounded by 1.8% in 2014 after a contraction of -4.9% in 2013. Private and 
public investment rate decreased in 2014 to reach 14.2% and 4.9% from 16.2% and 5.0% respectively in 2013.

The respective performance of the main industry groups was as follows:

(i) Agriculture, forestry and fishing: growth of 5.4% mainly due to growth in fishing activities.

(ii) Manufacturing: expanded by 2.2% compared with 4.4% in 2013, mainly as a result of sugar milling 
recovering by 3.8%, food processing and textile expanding by 2.8% and 1.5% respectively, and other 
manufacturing registered a growth of 2%. 

(iii) Accommodation and food service activities: grew by 4.1%, boosted by tourism sector, which re-
bounded to some extent. 

(iv) Financial and insurance activities: recorded a growth of 5.4%, same rate as in 2013. 

(v) Construction: encountered a decline of -8.5% compared to a contraction of 9.4% in 2013.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Main Economic Indicators 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

GDP at market prices (MUR billion) 386.3 366.4 344.6 322.8 300.0 282.9

Investment growth (% of GDP) (6.0) (3.3) (0.8) 1.4 (0.7) 8.9

Inflation (%) 3.2 3.5 3.9 6.5 2.9 2.5

Unemployment (%) 7.8 8.0 8.0 7.9 7.8 7.3

Gross international reserves at 

end June (MUR billion) 121.4 105 86.67 81.51 70.08 63.94

Stock Market

SEMDEX, the performance index of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM), ended 2014 at 2,073.72 points, 
which represented a 1.048% fall for the year (2013: 2,095.69 points). Capitalisation of the official market at the 
end of December 2014 was up, by 7.97%, to reach MUR 229.9 billion. SEMTRI, the total-return index, was up 
by 1.82% to 6,795.35 points (2013: 6,673.93 points), and SEM10 index closed at 385.51 points. In comparison 
with 2013, the price–earnings ratio for the overall market averaged 9.92, a fall of 29.94%, whereas the average 
dividend yield rose to 2.99% from 2.58%. Some 2.617 billion shares changed hands for a total value of MUR 
16.55 billion. 

On the global front, 2014 was an eventful year for investors on the back of various equity-market corrections. 
In addition, oil and other major commodities turned out to be the worst performing asset class for the year; 
this trend could continue with OPEC and the big iron-ore producers showing no initial signs of curtailing 
production. This unsettled environment was reflected in the mixed performance of the world’s stock markets, 
with the MSCI World Index closing year-on-year up 2.9% (+27%), S&P up 11.4% (+30%), NASDAQ up 13.4% 
(+34%), FTSE100 down 2.7% (+14%), NIKKEI up 7.1% (+57%) and the MSCI Emerging Market Index down 
1.8% (-3%). 

Portfolio Review

The portfolio sector allocation is better balanced as a result of the investment in Hotelest. The portfolio is 
invested mainly in a multi-sector operating entity, IBL, as well as other companies operating in commerce, 
hospitality and finance sectors, which together account for 87% of total investments.

The diversified conglomerate, IBL, is now accounted in the sector allocation as ‘multi-sector operation’. IBL is 
ranked amongst the largest groups in Mauritius, operating in six sectors: Commerce, Engineering, Financial 
Services, Seafood and Marine, Retail, and Aviation & Shipping. The group encountered a less buoyant level 
of activity in some sectors, on the back of the delicate economic context. Nonetheless, favourable signals are 
observed with an anticipated positive outcome of its financial performance in the coming year. 

In the hospitality sector, Hotelest’s subsidiary, CHSL, recently announced a much-improved financial performance. 
CHSL benefited not only from its internal re-engineering process but from a geographical diversified strategy 
as well. With positive revenue growth achieved by all the Company’s resorts operating in the region, revenue 
reached MUR 3.5 billion leading to an appreciable profit after tax of MUR 148 million.

The strategic intent of the Company is to invest further in the financial services sector. Current investments 
comprise mainly of holdings in the banking sector, namely in MCB Group and Afrasia. Taken together, both 
institutions yielded good returns in terms of capital appreciation and dividend yield. Furthermore, their 
improved financial performances recorded for the half-year to December 2014, which reflects attractive margins 
generated from growth in international cross-border operations, is a good indicator of their potential for future 
value creation.

In the global business sector, ECS Global Ltd, a fully-fledged management company, licenced by the Financial 
Services Commission, reported encouraging results for its first year of operations. The company is building 
appropriate structures to provide fiduciary and advisory services to private and institutional clients.
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Outlook

Looking to 2015, the environment for global growth is likely to be uncertain with little sign of high growth 
expected in emerging markets that helped pull the world economy out of the last crisis.

Whilst the strong corporate balance sheets, the low cost of capital and positive recovery in the USA provide a 
promising backdrop for credit and equity markets, there are, however, numerous longer-term structural and 
geo-political risks that face the global economy, such as: the impact of the increasingly divergent policies 
between the Federal Reserve, the European Central Bank and Bank of Japan; the growing consumer debt and 
resurgence of sub-prime lending in the USA; China’s focus on structural, financial and energy reforms rather 
than GDP growth; and the numerous conflicts across the globe. 

The Mauritian economy continues to show some resilience in face of the ongoing poor performance of the 
economies of our principal European markets, achieving a real GDP growth of 3.5% in 2014, which is projected 
to increase to 3.8% in 2015. This will, however, be largely dependent on the level of the global and European 
recovery and how successful Mauritius is in diversifying its own economy and applying appropriate fiscal and 
monetary measures to control the budget deficit, stimulate private sector investments and employment, and 
manage its currency. The recent depreciation of the Mauritian Rupee is expected to provide some support to 
export-oriented companies.

Dividend 

A dividend of MUR 8.00 per share (2013: MUR 8.00 per share) was declared and paid in December 2014, 
bringing the total dividend payout for the year under review to MUR 34.13 million (2013: MUR 34.13 million).

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for ensuring that your Company complies with standards of 
good corporate governance and best international practice. It approves risk strategy and policies, and delegates 
their formulation, implementation and monitoring to committees of the Board, the internal and external audi-
tors, and senior Management. In turn, line managers have primary responsibility for maintaining and enforcing 
procedures, practices and controls within their sphere of responsibility, and for ensuring that the Board is kept 
informed, in a timely manner, of all risk-related issues that may affect the Company.

The Group continues to refine its approach to better integrate its social, environmental and financial responsi-
bilities. This is clearly outlined in the Corporate Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility section of this 
Report. 

Although the Group is a strong proponent of corporate governance and good practices, it would not wish 
the regulators to lose sight of the realities of the local business environment and thereby introduce guidelines 
that are neither relevant nor specific to the needs of the Mauritian market. It is imperative that companies are 
allowed to grow their business and shareholder value in an efficient and transparent manner and within a con-
ducive business environment. 

Report of the Directors (continued)
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Code of Ethics and Conduct

Your Company is committed to the highest standards of integrity and ethical conduct in its dealings with all its 
stakeholders. It has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct which emphasises standards that have been part of 
the Company’s unwritten daily code of behaviour, which goes beyond the requirements of law.

Acknowledgements

On behalf of the Board, we wish to express our appreciation to the Company’s Management for its dedication 
and commitment during the year under review. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 31 March 2015.

(s) George J. Dumbell (s) Jean Ribet
     Chairperson      Director 
      Group Chief Executive Officer

Report of the Directors (continued)
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THE GROUP

31 Dec  
2014

31 Dec  
2013

31 Dec  
2012

31 Dec  
2011

31 Dec  
2010

Revenue MUR ’000 32,581 43,338 41,675 33,269 27,889

Operating profit MUR ’000 23,327 39,335 155,738 27,080 24,816

Profit after taxation MUR ’000 108,688 44,223 155,659 28,105 27,688

Total assets MUR ’000 2,458,993 1,828,174 1,513,834 1,479,891 1,368,060

Owners’ interest MUR ’000 2,448,778 1,825,224 1,508,642 1,416,149 1,319,401

Total borrowings MUR ’000 - - - 36,439 29,772

Earnings per share* MUR 22.89 9.66 36.48 6.59 6.49

Dividend per share MUR 8.00 8.00 7.00 6.00 5.00

Dividend yield % 3.02 3.40 3.63 2.93 2.50

Net asset per share MUR 405.12 427.78 353.58 331.90 309.23

Share price MUR 265.00 235.00 193.00 205.00 200.00

Price–earnings ratio 11.58 24.33 5.29 31.12 30.82

Volume of shares 
traded 76,899 6,795 42,107 144,350 577,700

Key Financial Results and Ratios

Asset Mix

Year ended 31 December  2014 2013
 MUR’000 MUR’000

Listed investments – Official Market 1,015,350 935,240

Listed investments – DEM 110,717 205,460

Unquoted investments 346,594 352,708

Property 160,568 160,590

Associated companies 740,920 128,107

Current assets 84,844 46,069

Total 2,458,993 1,828,174

Top Five Holdings

Year ended 31 December 2014

 MUR’M

Ireland Blyth Ltd 878

Hotelest Ltd 607

MCB Group 91

Afrasia Ltd 249

Real Estate 161

Total 1,986

Finance 22.17%17.10%

Multi-sector activities 44.47%36.98%

Commerce 7.19%5.54%

Hotel 8.32%26.94%

Industry 7.90%5.96%

Investment 0.37%0.25%

Others 0.57%0.38%

Property 9.01%6.85%

Sector Allocation

20132014

*Earnings per share for 2014 and 2013 are based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares, including the effect 
of the Rights Issue.
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Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE

Statement of Compliance 
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

Name of Public Interest Entity (PIE): Belle Mare Holding Limited

Reporting Period: 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014

We, the directors of Belle Mare Holding Limited, confirm to the best of our knowledge that the PIE has complied 
with all of its obligations and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance, except for:

- Section 2.2.6: Annual Re-election of Directors: Non-compliance with this section of the Code is explained in 
the Corporate Governance report (see page 9). 

- Section 2.8.2: Remuneration of Directors: The reason for non-compliance being that directors’ remunera-
tion is disclosed by category in view of the confidentiality and sensitivity of the information (see page 21).

Signed by

(s) George J. Dumbell (s) Jean Ribet
     Chairperson     Director 
     Group Chief Executive Officer

31 March 2015

Statement on Corporate Governance

In line with its Statement on Corporate Governance, your Company is engaged in adhering to the Code of 
Corporate Governance issued by the National Committee on Corporate Governance and in upholding standards 
of corporate governance through Company-wide awareness of its business ethics and the stewardship and 
supervision of its management by the Board of Directors and committees of the Board.

The Company’s comprehensive Risk Management Programme, which clearly defines responsibility for risk and 
compliance and outlines risk coverage and policy, as well as the required supporting infrastructure, is now well 
established and fully operational. It comprises a framework of key committees of the Board, an Internal Audit 
function, a Group Compliance Officer, external auditors, and an array of policies and standards. 

The Board

The Board had three independent, three non-executive and three executive directors during 2014. The 
Chairperson is an independent director. A Profile of Directors is given on pages 53 and 54.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible and accountable for all the affairs and general performance 
of the Company within the terms of reference outlined in the Board of Directors Charter. Nominations to the 
Board comply with the Company’s Director Nomination Policy. Some directors are nominated by virtue of an 
existing protocole d’accord between the Company’s four main shareholders. However, all nominations are vetted 
by the Board’s Corporate Governance (and Nomination & Remuneration) Committee and recommended to 
the Board. Matters relating to directors’ remuneration are also dealt with by the Corporate Governance (and 
Nomination & Remuneration) Committee in accordance with the Company’s Remuneration Policy. 

The Board does not favour the re-election of directors on an annual basis, as it does not consider this practice to 
be in the best interest of the Company. However, in accordance with the amendment made to the Company’s 
Constitution at the Company’s 2012 Annual Meeting, not more than one third of the directors in office shall 
retire at every Annual Meeting and be eligible for re-election. An assessment of the performance of each retiring 
director who makes himself/herself available for re-election is conducted by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, which submits its nominations to the Board, which, in turn, makes its appropriate recommendations 
to the shareholders for their approval. 

An induction programme is available for newly appointed directors, who are also given inter alia a copy of the 
Company’s Code of Ethics and Conduct for Directors.

Directors are invited to participate in an individual and collective assessment, every two years, the findings of 
which are reviewed by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and tabled to the Board of Directors. The 
next assessment is scheduled for 2015.
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Chairperson

The Chairperson has responsibility for ensuring the efficient operations of the Board and its committees, for 
seeing that corporate-governance matters are dealt with, for representing the Group externally, and, particularly, 
for communicating with the shareholders at their Annual Meeting. Working closely, but independently, with the 
Group Chief Executive Officer, the Head of Corporate Affairs and Group Compliance Officer, and the Company 
Secretary, the Chairperson also ensures that new directors receive a full and formal induction to the Company 
and its business, and that all directors are kept fully informed of relevant matters.

Group Chief Executive Officer

The Group Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for making recommendations to the Board and for achieving 
the Group’s strategic objectives. He is responsible for the executive management of the Company and works 
closely with the Head of Corporate Affairs and Group Compliance Officer, and the Head of Finance.

Independent, Non-Executive and Executive Directors

Our team of directors is a strong source of internal and external experience, advice and judgement.

Company Secretariat

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretariat, which ensures good information 
flow to the Board and its committees and between senior Management and the directors. The Secretariat 
facilitates the induction of directors and assists them in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities. Through the 
Chairperson, it is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance and for generally keeping the 
Board up to date on all legal, regulatory and other developments.

Share Registry and Transfer Office

The Company’s Share Registry and Transfer Office is at ECS Secretaries Ltd, which is responsible for the 
management of its Share Register. Shareholders may address, in writing, any administrative enquiries regarding 
their personal details, dividend payments and the like to ECS Secretaries Ltd. 

Committees of the Board

Three committees of the Board have been constituted to assist the directors in the discharge of their duties. 
Each committee of the Board has written terms of reference incorporated in a charter, which has been approved 
by the Board and is subject to regular review. The chairpersons of the committees are invited to report during 
Board meetings on matters addressed by the committees.

Audit (and Risk Management) Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee, which also has responsibility for the Company’s Risk Management function, 
consists of three non-executives directors. The committee operates within the scope of its charter, which has 
been approved by the Board. Its principal functions are to ensure the integrity of the financial statements, 
oversee the financial-reporting process, and direct the Risk Management function, with the support of the 
internal and external auditors and the Compliance function. The committee reports to the Board of Directors at 
each Board meeting. The Group Chief Executive Officer, the Head of Finance, the internal and external auditors 
and the Group Compliance Officer attend the committee’s meetings on request.

During the year, the committee met on five occasions. It reviewed, inter alia, the 2013 Audited Financial 
Statements and Annual Report, and the 2014 unaudited quarterly and half-yearly financial statements for 
publication; approved the Internal Audit Plan for the year and reviewed and assessed the reports of the internal 
auditors; evaluated and recommended to the Board of Directors the dividend payout; made recommendations 
to the Board for the appointment, remuneration and terms of engagement of the external and internal auditors; 
and assessed the Company’s underlying risk profile.

Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)

Committees of the Board (continued)

Corporate Governance (and Nomination & Remuneration) Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee, which also has responsibility for the Nomination & Remuneration 
function, consisted of three directors (two independent and one executive). The committee operates within 
the scope of its charter, which has been approved by the Board. Its principal functions are to direct and 
monitor implementation of the Company’s Corporate Governance Programme as well as matters pertaining 
to nominations to the Board and the performance and remuneration of directors and senior executives. The 
Group Compliance Officer and Company Secretary provide directors with updates on relevant laws, regulations, 
guidelines and listing requirements. The committee reports to the Board of Directors at each Board meeting. 
The Group Chief Executive Officer is a member of the committee and the Group Compliance Officer attends 
meetings on invitation.

During the year, the committee held six meetings. Its broad achievements were:

Corporate Governance

1. Recommending to the Board for approval the Company’s Annual Report for 2013, and more specifically the 
Corporate Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility Report and Statutory Disclosures.

2. Approving the Group Corporate Social Responsibility Plan for 2014 under the banner of ‘Fondation 
Constance’.

3. Monitoring matters relating to Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transactions, with no issues of an 
unusual nature reported.

4. Enhancing the Policy for Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transactions.

5. Reviewing for Board approval of a Code of Ethics and Conduct for Directors and a policy for Anti-Trust 
Compliance.

Nomination and Remuneration

1. Reviewing nominees for the annual re-election of directors and make recommendations to the Board.

2. Reviewing new Board nominations and make recommendations to the Board.

3. Reviewing for Board approval a new Director Assessment Questionnaire and Self-Evaluation Questionnaire.

4. Reviewing for Board approval a new Letter of Appointment for Directors.

5. Recommending shareholders through the Board’s revised Directors’ Fees for 2015.

Management Investment Committee

The Management Investment Committee was set up to implement and manage, on an ongoing basis, the 
Company’s investment strategy, including any revision of the investment policy and guidelines, subject to the 
Board’s approval. The committee is chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer and consists of three senior 
executives of the Company and an independent director representing the Board. 

During 2014, the Committee met on five occasions to monitor movements in the portfolio and consider new 
investment opportunities, in line with the Company’s strategy.
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Board and Committee Attendance

 Committees of the Board
 Board of  Corporate Management
 Directors Audit Governance Investment

Number of meetings held in 2014 3 5 6 5

Meetings attended

George J. DUMBELL 3  6 

Jan BOULLÉ 3   5

Nicolas BOULLÉ 3

Marc FREISMUTH 3   5

Chairperson of Audit Committee 

(up to 11 September 2014)  4

Member of the Corporate Governance

(and Nomination & Remuneration)Committee 

(as from 1 April 2014)   2

Clément D. REY 3   5

Jean RIBET 3  6 3

Maxime REY (as from 11 September 2014) 2  

Chairperson of Audit Committee 

(as from 11 September 2014)  1

Georgina ROGERS 3 5

Noël Adolphe VALLET 2 4

Statement of Remuneration Philosophy 

The Board’s Corporate Governance (and Nomination & Remuneration) Committee has responsibility for, inter 
alia, implementing and reviewing the Company’s Remuneration Policy and making recommendations to the 
Board accordingly. Four key principles underpin this policy: 

i. Remuneration must reflect the level of good governance within the Company.

ii. Remuneration must reflect the dimension of shareholder relationship.

iii. Remuneration must be linked to the creation of value for shareholders.

iv. Remuneration must take into account both the strategic and financial performance of the Company.

For 2014, directors’ fees were MUR 130,000 for the Chairperson and MUR 50,000 for other Board members. In 
addition to the above, the fees for members of committees of the Board for 2014 were:

    Corporate Governance
 Management  Audit (and Risk  (and Nomination & 
 Investment Management) Remuneration) 
 Committee Committee Committee 
 MUR MUR MUR

Chairperson - 60,000 40,000

Board Representative 15,000* 30,000 20,000

* per meeting

Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)

Statement of Remuneration Philosophy (continued)

Following a review undertaken by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors will be 
recommending to the shareholders revised fees for the members of the Board (MUR 80,000), members of the 
Audit Committee (MUR 40,000) and members of the Corporate Governance (and Nomination & Remuneration) 
Committee (MUR 30,000) for 2015 to align these with the market. 

Risk Management Framework

The Company is constantly faced with a variety of risks, which could adversely affect its performance and 
financial condition. Being responsible for managing these risks, the Board ensures that your Company has in 
place a system of internal control and risk management, and continually monitors and reviews this system’s 
adequacy and effectiveness. The Company’s Risk Management framework, which extends across the Company’s 
business, comprises a top-down approach, with strategy, policies and risk appetite approved by the Board of 
Directors, and their formulation, implementation and monitoring delegated to the committees of the Board, the 
internal and external auditors, and senior Management. In turn, line managers are responsible for continuous 
compliance with all laws, codes, rules, regulations, procedures, policies, and standards of good industry practice. 
The Company’s Risk Management Programme was instituted in August 2006 and is reviewed periodically.

Risk Management Structure

Risks and Mitigation Initiatives

Besides the financial risks highlighted in the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 37 and 38, some of the 
more prominent risks to which the Company is exposed are:

•	 Reputation: Any event that materially damages the reputation of the Company and/or any failure to sustain 
its appeal to its shareholders could adversely affect the market value and attractiveness of the Company. This 
is managed by the Board and senior Management through the enforcement of an ethical code of conduct 
and good corporate-governance practices. 

•	 Financial and Regulatory Compliance: Non-compliance with financial and regulatory requirements may 
result in fiscal penalties and damage to the Company’s image on the market. In mitigation, a programme of 
procedures and internal monitoring has been put in place by the Compliance and Accounting functions, with 
the aid of the Internal Audit and monitored by the Audit Committee, to ensure that financial and regulatory 
requirements are adhered to. The quarterly financial statements and the Abridged Financial Statements are 
scrutinised by the Audit Committee and, subsequently, reviewed and approved by the Board. 

•	 Portfolio Concentration Risk: Failure to diversify the Company’s portfolio may adversely affect its 
financial position. The Company invested mainly in a multi-sector operating entity, IBL, as well as companies 
operating in commerce, hospitality and finance sectors. 

Corporate 
Governance
Committee

Audit
Committee

Group
Compliance 

Officer

External 
Auditors

Internal 
Auditors

Board

Group 
CEO

Business
Functions

Audit
Function
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Risks and Mitigation Initiatives (continued)

•	 Political, Economic and Financial Market Events: Investment values and returns could be adversely 
affected and, as a consequence, so could the Company’s operation and financial results. Changes in the 
macroeconomic and investment environment are regularly assessed by the Management Investment 
Committee and quarterly by the Board to ensure prompt decisions are taken to safeguard the value of the 
Company’s investments. 

•	 Technologies and Systems: To varying degrees, the Company is reliant upon certain technologies and 
systems for the smooth and efficient running of its business. Disruption to these technologies or systems 
could adversely affect its operating costs and efficiency. To mitigate this risk, the Company has invested 
in preventive maintenance and holds a contract with its IT service provider that caters for the prompt 
restoration to normal service to minimise any adverse impact on the business.

•	 Credit Standing: The Company is reliant on having access to credit facilities to meet its capital requirements 
and effectively manage its statement of financial position. If the Company does not manage its finances in a 
responsible manner, it may lose its credibility and, as a result, its favourable terms and ability to borrow. 

Your Company has various policies and methods to counter these risks effectively, as outlined above and in the 
Corporate Governance Report and the Notes to the Financial Statements, on pages 37 to 38. The Company also 
has Director and Officer Liability Insurance Cover.

Compliance Function

The Group Compliance Officer has the responsibility for coordinating the Compliance function across all 
companies of the Constance Group, with a functional reporting line to the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committees of each company. During 2014, the Group Compliance Officer operated within the scope of the 
Company’s Compliance Charter and in accordance with professional standards approved by the Board.

Auditors

External Audit

BDO & Co. have expressed their willingness to continue as the Company’s external auditors and, in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2001, will be automatically reappointed at the forthcoming Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders.

Internal Audit

Internal Audit is an appraisal function established to examine and evaluate the activities of the Company 
independently, as a service to the Board of Directors and to Management in general. The internal auditors are 
entrusted with the responsibility for appraising the policies and procedures and the operating, financial and 
management controls of the Company to ensure that the business is properly managed, and for promoting 
effective controls at reasonable cost. The internal auditors report to the Group CEO but also have a functional 
reporting line to the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The Company has an Internal Audit Charter, which has been approved by the Board and governs the Internal 
Audit function in terms of responsibility, role, scope, authority, independence, reporting procedures, auditing 
standards, and external relationships. It also highlights the unrestricted access which the internal auditors have 
in regard to the records and Management of the Company.

Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers continue as the Company’s internal auditors under the terms of a three-year 
contract which was renewed on 1 January 2013.

Management Services Agreement

The Company has a Management Services Agreement with Constance Corporate Management Ltd (CCM), in 
which the Company holds a 16% interest. Under this agreement, CCM provides the entire range of corporate, 
operational and management services required by the Company, including its Group Chief Executive Officer, 
Head of Finance, Group Head of Projects and Developments, and Head of Corporate Affairs, and Group 
Compliance Officer. 

The fees charged, based on a percentage mix of net asset value, market capitalisation and net profit, and 
advisory fees related to the company’s financial and investment plan, amounted to MUR 12.4 million for the 
year under review. 

Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)

Policies

The Company has adopted the following key policies and charters, which have been approved by its Board:

Director Nomination Policy Risk Management Programme

Data Protection Policy Board of Directors Charter

Code of Ethics and Conduct Corporate Governance Charter

Anti-Trust Compliance Policy Internal Audit Charter

Remuneration Policy Statement on Corporate Governance

Dividend Policy Compliance Charter

Donations Policy Audit Committee Charter

Corporate Social Responsibility Policy Corporate Governance Committee Charter

Share Dealing Policy Nomination and Remuneration Committee Charter

Anti-money-laundering Policy Code of Ethics and Conduct for Directors

Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions 
Policy Professional Standards and Guidelines

Management Investment Committee Charter

Directors’ and Senior Officers’ Interests and Dealings in Shares

The Company’s Share Dealing Policy gives clear guidance on the practice to be followed when dealing in 
shares of the Company or companies connected with the Company by business or common shareholding. All 
directors, senior officers and related parties wishing to deal in the securities of the Company or its subsidiary 
must comply with the statutory provisions concerning insider dealing in the Companies Act 2001 as well as the 
Securities Act 2005, and are aware of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius’s Model Code for Securities Transactions 
by Directors of Listed Companies. Furthermore, directors and senior officers are notified by the Company of the 
commencement and closure of non-trading periods.

In the context of the Company’s Financial and Investment Plan, a Rights Issue was undertaken by the Company in 
2014. Directors and senior officers of the Company and parties related to directors subscribed to the Company’s 
shares. In addition, Mr Kevin Chan Too purchased 100 shares.

Directors’ and Senior Officer’s Interests as at 31 December 2014

  Direct Indirect
 No of Shares % Held % Held

Directors
George J. Dumbell - - -
Jan Boullé - - 3.25
Marc Freismuth - - -
Clément D. Rey 121 - 1.54
Jean Ribet - - 3.24
Maxime Rey  - - -
Georgina Rogers 117,215 1.94 0.04
Nicolas Boullé  - - -
Noël Adolphe Vallet 800 0.01 2.88

Senior Officer
Kevin Chan Too 11,100 0.18 -
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Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions

The Company’s Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions Policy provides a structure which ensures that 
all transactions pertaining to the operation of the Company and its subsidiary are properly disclosed and can be 
adequately managed without detriment to the reputation and integrity of the Company and its stakeholders in 
so far as it relates to good corporate practice.

A Related Party Transaction was completed in the context of the Company’s Financial and Investment Plan and 
for which all statutory disclosure and procedures were followed. In August 2014, the company announced the 
acquisition of 18.4% of the share capital of Hotelest Ltd from certain existing shareholders. This transaction 
represented a total consideration of MUR 162 million.

For disclosure of related-party transactions, please refer to page 51 of the Annual Report.

Contracts of Significance

During the year under review there was no contract of significance to which the Company or its subsidiary was 
a party, and in which a director of the Company was materially interested either directly or indirectly, besides 
the Management Services Agreement reported in the Corporate Governance Report on page 14.

Data Analysis on Shareholdings as at 31 December 2014

Size of Number of Number of  Percentage
Shareholding Shareholders Shares Owned Shareholding 

1–500 332   45,147  0.747

501–1,000 70 54,178 0.895

1,001–5,000 118 250,022 4.136

5,001–10,000 14 96,291 1.593

10,001–50,000 15 305,218 5.050

50,001–100,000 6 382,741 6.332

100,001–250,000 4 697,518 11.541

250,001–500,000 3 1,103,099 18.249

Over 500,000 4 3,110,385 51.457

Total 566 6,044,599 100.000

Shareholder Number of Number of  Percentage
Category Shareholders Shares Owned Shareholding

Individuals 490 2,906,491 48.084

Insurance and assurance companies 4 713,819 11.809

Pension and provident funds 2 124,331 2.057

Investment and trust companies 2 4,660 0.077

Other corporate bodies 68 2,295,298 37.973

Total 566 6,044,599 100.000

Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)



BELLE MARE HOLDING LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2014BELLE MARE HOLDING LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2014 17 16 

Substantial shareholders holding more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, and sharehold-
ing structure as at 31 December 2014

Shareholders’ Agreement

The Company is aware of the protocole d’accord that exists between four of its main shareholders and which, 
principally, governs the allocation among them of certain seats on the Company’s Board and the manner in 
which shares held by them can be disposed of.

According to the provisions of the said protocole d’accord, nominees for four of the nine seats on the Company’s 
Board are put forward by these shareholders. The Company’s Corporate Governance (and Nomination & 
Remuneration) Committee ensures that the nominees meet the qualification criteria prescribed by the Companies 
Act 2001, the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, and the Company’s Director Nomination Policy, 
and are able to discharge their responsibilities effectively and in a transparent manner for the benefit of the 
Company as a whole.

Dividend

The Company’s dividend policy is to distribute to its shareholders a regular dividend payout that reflects the 
Company’s financial performance after taking into account any current and forthcoming investments. The divi-
dend payout is subject to the solvency test being satisfied as required under Section 61(2) of The Companies 
Act 2001.

Employee Share Option Plan

No such scheme exists at present within the Company.

Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)

Material Clauses of the Constitution

There are no clauses of the Company’s Constitution deemed material enough for special disclosure. 

A copy of the Company’s Constitution is available upon request in writing to the Company Secretary at the 
registered office of the Company, 5th floor, Labama House, 35 Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis.

Timetable – Important Events

March Approval of audited accounts

May Approval of first-quarter results

June Annual Meeting of Shareholders

August Approval of second-quarter and half-yearly results

November Approval of third-quarter results

November/December Declaration of dividend

December Payment of dividend

CORPORATE vALUES AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy

Corporate values

The Group pursues the enhancement of corporate values through sound and ethical business practices. To fulfil 
this objective, it continually undertakes Group-wide initiatives to strengthen its corporate-governance structure; 
maintain sound employment practices – a healthy and safe workplace, with quality- and job-related training; 
and protect and conserve the environment in which its member companies operate, with efficient resource 
management and utilisation; as well as play an active role in poverty eradication and the furtherance of a 
sustainable society through social-contribution programmes.

In recent years, the Group has more closely aligned its social and environmental responsibilities with its business 
strategy to better reflect the Group’s vision and values. Its ultimate objective in so doing is to fully integrate 
its values within its business practices, with particular emphasis on the management of its economic, social 
and environmental obligations. These initiatives are driven by the Group Compliance Officer and the Business 
Compliance Officer in each Group member company. 

Shareholders

The Company communicates with its shareholders through its Annual Report, publication of its quarterly results 
and other communiqués in the press, and face to face at its Annual Meeting.

Investees

The Company takes every step to ensure that the entities in which it invests maintain the highest standards of 
ethical and good governance. 

Codes of Ethics and Conduct

The Company is committed to a Code of Ethics and Conduct, which is outlined in its general Code of Ethics 
and Conduct as well as in its Code of Ethics and Conduct for Directors. These documents are comprehensive 
statements of the guiding principles of conduct, which the Company expects its directors and employees to 
observe in discharging their responsibilities. These codes state the high moral, ethical and legal standards for 
which the Company stands and by which it professes to do its business. It states publicly to all the Company’s 
stakeholders the standards of behaviour they can expect from the Company’s directors and employees. 

Anti-money-laundering

It is the Company’s objective to make a positive contribution towards the combat against money laundering 
and terrorist financing by ensuring that its Management and employees adhere to the highest standards of anti-
money-laundering compliance, in line with the Financial Intelligence and Anti-Money Laundering Act (2002) and 
subsequent regulations, to prevent the use of their products and services for money-laundering purposes. The 
Constance Group’s Anti-money-laundering Policy and actions are coordinated by the Group Compliance Officer 
and Head of Finance. 
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Corporate Governance and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)

CORPORATE vALUES AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy (continued)

Corporate values (continued)

Health & Safety 

The Board of Directors is satisfied with the Group’s adherence to Health & Safety standards.

Environment

Although the Company’s activities do not have a direct impact on the environment in which it operates, the 
Board of Directors recognises its obligations to respect the environment. As a responsible entity, it strives to do 
business with partners which respect the environment.

Corporate Social Responsibility

By virtue of a decision taken by the Board of Directors of the three principal companies of the Constance Group, 
namely Belle Mare Holding Limited, Constance La Gaieté Company Ltd, and Constance Hotels Services Ltd, the 
Fondation Constance fund was established in December 2009. Each Group member company contributes 2% 
of its previous year’s book profit to the fund’s annual budget, in line with the fiscal legislation in force. Fondation 
Constance is managed by the Group’s CSR Project Committee, with its Annual Programme approved, and its 
performance monitored on a quarterly basis, by the Corporate Governance Committee.

Mission

The Constance Group believes that it has a duty to care for the well-being and development of the communities 
in which it operates and that its involvement and contributions are not charitable handouts but investments 
that will have a positive impact on the community.

Principles

The Constance Group has a policy on Corporate Social Responsibility, which commits it to the following set of 
principles:

•	 Conducting	business	in	a	socially	responsible	and	ethical	manner

•	 Protecting	the	environment	and	people’s	safety

•	 Supporting	human	rights

•	 Engaging	 and	 learning	 from	 respecting	 and	 supporting	 the	 communities	 and	 cultures	 within	 which	 it	
operates. 

While Fondation Constance gives consideration to high-impact projects of a national stature, it tends to give 
priority to projects in the regions in which its Group member companies operate.

For 2014, the financial resources available for Fondation Constance were utilised principally for 24 projects 
in education development, poverty eradication, leisure and sports, health and environmental protection, as 
follows:

Allocation per category at 31 December 2014

Socio-Economic Development32%

Health4%

Leisure & Sports

Environment

14%

1%

Education and Training42%

Administrative Expenses7%
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CORPORATE vALUES AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy (continued)

Corporate Social Responsibility  (continued) 

Education Development

Scholarships were awarded to the two best CPE pupils of the Poste de Flacq Government and RCA schools to 
cover their secondary studies.

The Fondation organised the Constance Education Award 2014 for SC and HSC students of the eastern region. 
Students had to do research on specific topics and present a report in writing and then orally to a panel of 
judges. The two topics chosen for 2014 were:

•	 SC: “Reduction of crime has become increasingly challenging for the local authority. What are the measures 
you would propose to tackle the problem?”

•	 HSC: “Economic disparity represents a threat to both global and national security and stability. Discuss.”

The aim of the Award is to encourage leadership skills, the development of values and general knowledge, help 
students to prepare themselves for the world of work, bring greater awareness of environmental and other 
issues, and how to better serve the community.

Fondation Constance sponsored an NGO which aim was to improve the quality of non-formal education 
programmes for children from vulnerable groups. In the same context, it continued to provide lunch for them. 

Fondation Constance continued to sponsor Friends of the Poor with a view to promoting education through the 
provision of basic amenities to children in vulnerable groups of the eastern region.

Empowerment

Fondation Constance continued to provide a year’s training at the Constance Hospitality Training Centre to 
vulnerable groups of the eastern region to give them skills which will help in making them employable.

Fondation Constance continued to sponsor one student from vulnerable groups to attend St Gabriel Technical 
School and one student from Saint Joseph Technical School to develop their technical skills for future employment.

Environmental and Health Protection

The Group recognises its obligation to respect the environment and has always striven to achieve environment 
best practices across its operations through awareness and training. During the year, Fondation Constance 
provided support to various NGOs such as Pils, TIDiams and Lizie Dan La Main in their effort to promote health. 

Leisure and Sports

To promote recreational and leisure activities as well as to encourage sports activities in the eastern region, 
Fondation Constance sponsored Faucon Flacq’s sports activities and organised the Constance Challenge Cup.

Donations

The Company has a Donations Policy stating that it is committed to:

•	 Ensuring	that	all	its	donations	are	compatible	with	its	business	activities	and	reflect	its	respective	values	and	
objectives

•	 Supporting	people	and	communities	at	both	 local	and	national	 level,	with	the	aim	of	making	their	 lives	
better and giving them opportunities that they may otherwise not have

•	 Enhancing	and	safeguarding	the	natural	environment.

The Company contributed MUR 500,000 (2013: MUR 500,000) to Fondation Constance.

Political donation during the year was MUR 1,000,000 (2013: Nil).

(s) George J. Dumbell  (s) Marie-Anne Adam, ACIS 
    Chairperson      For La Gaieté Services Ltd 
      Secretaries

Corporate Governance and  
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Other Statutory Disclosures
(pursuant to section 221 of the Companies Act 2001)

Nature of Business

The principal activity of the Company is to hold interest in other entities. A summary of the Company’s 
investment portfolio is given on page 8 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr George J. Dumbell, Chairperson of the Company, has a two-year service contract, which expires on 31 
December 2015. The other directors do not have service contracts with the Company, but letters of appointment.

Directors’ Remuneration and Benefits

The emoluments of directors have not been disclosed individually because of the commercially sensitive nature 
of this data. Remuneration and benefits paid by the Company and its subsidiaries were as follows:

 2014 2013
 MUR ’000 MUR ’000

Directors of Belle Mare Holding Ltd
Executive 100 100
Non-executive 630 605

Directors of subsidiary company
Executive - -
Non-executive - -

 730 705

Auditors’ Fees

The fees paid to the auditors (exclusive of VAT) were:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2014 2013 2014 2013
 MUR ’000 MUR ’000 MUR ’000 MUR ’000

Audit fees paid to:

BDO & Co. 235 200 235 200

Fees for other services paid to:

BDO & Co. - - - -

Directors of Subsidiary

Société de Belle Mare:

George J. Dumbell 
Jan Boullé
Kevin Chan Too 
Clément D. Rey 
Jean Ribet
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the preparation of Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:

(i) adequate accounting records and maintenance of effective internal control systems

(ii) the preparation of financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of the Company as at the 
end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for that period and which comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

(iii) the selection of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented.

The directors report that:

(i) adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls and risk management have been 
maintained

(ii) appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have 
been used consistently

(iii) International Financial Reporting Standards have been adhered to. Any departure in the interest of fair 
presentation has been disclosed, explained and quantified

(iv) the Code of Corporate Governance has been adhered to in all material aspects and reasons provided for 
non-compliance.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

(s) George J. Dumbell (s) Jean Ribet
     Chairperson      Director 
     Group Chief Executive Officer

31 March 2015
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Company Secretary’s Certificate

In terms of section 166(d) of the Companies Act 2001, we certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of the Company under 
the Act.  

(s) Marie-Anne Adam, ACIS
     For La Gaieté Services Ltd
     Secretaries

31 March 2015
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This report is made solely to the members of Belle Mare Holding Limited (the “Company”), as a body, in 
accordance with section 205 of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the Group financial statements of Belle Mare Holding Limited and its subsidiary (the “Group”) 
and the Company’s separate financial statements on pages 26 to 52 which comprise the statements of financial 
position at December 31, 2014, the statements of profit or loss, the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 26 to 52 give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and of the Company at December 31, 2014 and their financial performance and their cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the 
Companies Act 2001. 

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Companies Act 2001

We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company or any of its subsidiary, other than in our capacity as 
auditors and dealings in the ordinary course of business. 

We have obtained all information and explanations we have required. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our 
examination of those records.

Financial Reporting Act 2004

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report. Our responsibility is to report the 
extent of compliance with Code of Corporate Governance as disclosed in the annual report and on whether the 
disclosure is consistent with the requirements of the Code.

In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent with the requirements of the Code.

BDO & Co
Chartered Accountants
 

Ameenah Ramdin, FCCA, ACA
Licensed by FRC 
 
 
 
Port Louis 
Mauritius
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Statements of Financial Position - December 31, 2014

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Assets Employed

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 160,568 160,590 - - 
Investments in subsidiaries 6 - - 5,461 5,461 
Investments in associates 7 740,920 128,107 615,373 64,898 
Investments in financial assets 8 1,472,661 1,493,408 1,472,661 1,493,408 

  2,374,149 1,782,105 2,093,495 1,563,767 

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 9 10,043 12,475 10,454 12,587 
Cash and cash equivalents 20(b) 74,801 33,594 73,848 32,963 

  84,844 46,069 84,302 45,550 

Total assets  2,458,993 1,828,174 2,177,797 1,609,317 

Equity and Liabilities

Capital and reserves (attributable to  
owners of the parent company)
Stated capital 10 446,739 42,668 446,739 42,668 
Reserves  1,345,492 1,194,042 1,201,825 1,034,868 
Retained earnings 12 656,547 588,514 519,023 528,835 

Owners’ interests  2,448,778 1,825,224 2,167,587 1,606,371 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 10,215 2,827 10,210 2,823 
Current tax liabilities 14(b) - 123 - 123 

  10,215 2,950 10,210 2,946 

Total equity and liabilities  2,458,993 1,828,174 2,177,797 1,609,317 

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of directors on 31 March 2015.

(s) George J. Dumbell (s) Jean Ribet
     Chairperson      Director
     Group Chief Executive Officer

The notes on pages 31 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 24 and 25.
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Statements of Profit or Loss - Year ended December 31, 2014

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Revenue 16 32,581 43,338 33,381 46,258 

Operating profit 16 23,327 39,335 25,207 43,488 
Finance costs 17 (396) - (396) - 
Share of result of associates 7 17,093 5,507 - - 

Profit before exceptional item and taxation  40,024 44,842 24,811 43,488 
Exceptional item 18 69,153 - - - 

Profit before taxation  109,177 44,842 24,811 43,488 
Taxation 14(a) (489) (619) (489) (619)

Profit for the year  108,688 44,223 24,322 42,869 

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent  108,688 44,223 24,322 42,869 

Earnings per share (Rs) 19 22.89 9.66 5.12 9.36 

The notes on pages 31 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 24 and 25.
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income -  
Year ended December 31, 2014

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Profit for the year  108,688 44,223 24,322 42,869 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss:

Gain arising on fair value of available- 
for-sale financial assets 8 & 11 96,728 305,027 96,728 305,027 
Reclassification adjustment on  
disposal of investments in financial assets 11 (197) (586) (197) (586)
Share of other comprehensive  
income of associate 7(b) (14,182) 2,052 - - 

Other comprehensive income  
for the year  82,349 306,493 96,531 304,441 

Total comprehensive income  
for the year  191,037 350,716 120,853 347,310 

Total comprehensive income  
attributable to: 
Owners of the parent  191,037 350,716 120,853 347,310 

The notes on pages 31 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 24 and 25.
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Statements of Changes in Equity - Year ended December 31, 2014

  Attributable to owners of the parent

     Revaluation Fair
   Share Share and other value Retained
  Notes capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
   Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) THE GROUP

 Balance at January 1, 2014  42,668 - 178,767 1,015,275 588,514 1,825,224
 Issue of shares - Rights issue 10 17,778 386,293 - - - 404,071
 Profit for the year  - - - - 108,688 108,688
 Effect on acquisition of associate 7 - - - 70,426 (7,846) 62,580
 Other comprehensive income  

for the year 11 - - (15,507) 96,531 1,325 82,349
 Dividend 15 - - - - (34,134) (34,134)

 Balance at December 31, 2014  60,446 386,293 163,260 1,182,232 656,547 2,448,778

 Balance at January 1, 2013  42,668 - 175,900 710,834 579,240 1,508,642
 Profit for the year  - - - - 44,223 44,223
 Other comprehensive income  

for the year 11 - - 2,867 304,441 (815) 306,493
 Dividend 15 - - - - (34,134) (34,134)

 Balance at December 31, 2013  42,668 - 178,767 1,015,275 588,514 1,825,224

  Attributable to owners of the parent

     Revaluation Fair
   Share Share and other value Retained
  Notes capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
   Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(b) THE COMPANY

 Balance at January 1, 2014  42,668 - 19,593 1,015,275 528,835 1,606,371
 Issue of shares - Rights issue 10 17,778 386,293 - - - 404,071
 Profit for the year  - - - - 24,322 24,322
 Effect on acquisition of associate 7 - - - 70,426 - 70,426
 Other comprehensive income  

for the year 11 - - - 96,531 - 96,531
 Dividend 15 - - - - (34,134) (34,134)

 Balance at December 31, 2014  60,446 386,293 19,593 1,182,232 519,023 2,167,587

 Balance at January 1, 2013  42,668 - 19,593 710,834 520,100 1,293,195
 Profit for the year  - - - - 42,869 42,869
 Other comprehensive income  

for the year 11 - - - 304,441 - 304,441
 Dividend 15 - - - - (34,134) (34,134)

 Balance at December 31, 2013  42,668 - 19,593 1,015,275 528,835 1,606,371

The notes on pages 31 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 24 and 25.



BELLE MARE HOLDING LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2014BELLE MARE HOLDING LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2014 31 30 

Statements of Cash Flows - Year ended December 31, 2014

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 20(a) 28,635 34,519 28,313 34,097 
Interest received  2,035 2,710 2,035 2,711 
Interest paid  (396) - (396) - 
Tax paid  (700) (933) (700) (933)

Net cash generated from  
operating activities  29,574 36,296 29,252 35,875 

Investing activities
Acquisition of associate  (360,776) (9,528) (360,776) (9,528)
Investment in financial assets  (2,046) - (2,046) - 
Disposal proceeds of investments  
in financial assets  1,870 - 1,870 - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (360,952) (9,528) (360,952) (9,528)

Financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders 15 (34,134) (34,134) (34,134) (34,134)
Issue of ordinary shares 10 408,899 - 408,899 - 
Share issue costs  (2,180) - (2,180) - 

Net cash generated from/(used in)  
financing activities  372,585 (34,134) 372,585 (34,134)

Increase/(decrease) in cash  
and cash equivalents  41,207 (7,366) 40,885 (7,787)

Movement in cash and cash  
equivalents
At January 1,  33,594 40,960 32,963 40,750 
Increase/(decrease)  41,207 (7,366) 40,885 (7,787)

At December 31, 20(c) 74,801 33,594 73,848 32,963 

The notes on pages 31 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 24 and 25.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

 Belle Mare Holding Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius. The 
address of its registered office is 5th Floor, Labama House, 35 Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis. 

 These financial statements will be submitted for consideration and approval at the forthcoming Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders of the Company.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated and 
where necessary, comparative figures have been amended to conform with change in presentation in the 
current year.

(a) Basis of preparation

 Amendments to Published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period

 Amendments to IAS 32, ‘Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’, clarify the requirements 
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendment is not expected to have any 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27, ‘Investment Entities’, define an investment entity and require 
a reporting entity that meets the definition of an investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries 
but instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in its consolidated and separate 
financial statements. Consequential amendments have been made to IFRS 12 and IAS 27 to introduce new 
disclosure requirements for investment entities. As the Company is not an investment entity, the standard 
has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

 IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’, sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy that is not income tax. The 
interpretation addresses what obligating event that gives rise to pay a levy and when should a liability 
be recognised. The Company is not subject to levies so the interpretation has no impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

 Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets’, remove the requirement 
to disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill or other intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives had been allocated. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

 Amendments to IAS 39, ‘Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’, provide relief 
from the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting when a derivative designated as a hedging 
instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify that any change to the fair 
value of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation should be included in 
the assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s 
financial statements. 

 Annual Improvements 2010 - 2012 Cycle

 IFRS 13 (Amendment), ‘Fair Value Measurement’, clarifies in the Basis for Conclusions that short-term 
receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be measured at invoice amounts when the effect 
of discounting is immaterial. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 Annual Improvements 2011 - 2013 Cycle

 IFRS 13 (Amendment), ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ clarifies in the 
Basis for Conclusions that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a new standard 
that is not yet mandatory, but permits early application, provided either standard is applied consistently 
throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first IFRS financial statements. The amendment has no 
impact on the Group’s financial statements, since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

 Standards, Amendments to Published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

 Certain Standards, Amendments to Published Standards and Interpretations have been issued that are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 or later periods, but which the 
Group has not early adopted.

 At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet effective: 

 - IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’

 - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19)

 - Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 cycle

 - Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 - 2013 cycle

 - IFRS 14, ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’

 - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)

 - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to IAS 16 and  
   IAS 38)

 - IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contract with Customers’ 

 - Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)

 - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)

 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to  
   IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

 - Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

 - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

 - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1)

 Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, Amendments to Published 
Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates and assumptions are based 
on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

 Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

(b) Investments in subsidiaries

 Separate financial statements of the Company

 Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost. The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any impairment 
in the value of individual investments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

 Consolidated financial statements

 Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business 
combinations by the Group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair 
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net assets. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling 
interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of 
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the 
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is 
recognised directly in the income statement as a bargain purchase gain.

 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 Transactions and non-controlling interests

 The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the 
Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and 
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains 
or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

 When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate. 

(c) Investments in associates

 Separate financial statements of the Company

 In the separate financial statements of the investor, investments in associated companies are carried at cost. 

 The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of individual investments.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Investments in associates (continued)

 Consolidated financial statements

 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, or joint control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method except when classified as held-for-sale. Goodwill 
arising on the acquisition of an associate is included with the carrying amount of the associate and tested 
annually for impairment. 

 Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost as adjusted by post acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate less any impairment in the value of individual investments. 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable 
assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of identifiable assets 
and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after assessment, is included as income in the determination of 
the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in 
an associate, the Group discontinues recognising further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive 
obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.

 Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

 Where necessary, appropriate adjustments are made to the financial statements of associates to bring the 
accounting policies used in line with those adopted by the Group. 

 If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate. Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in profit  
or loss.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment (except for freehold land) are stated at historical cost/deemed cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Freehold land is stated at revalued amounts and is not 
depreciated. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

 Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to revaluation and other reserves in 
shareholders’ equity. Decrease that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against the 
revaluation reserve, all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates used are as follows:

 Buildings on Freehold Land 2%

 Furniture and Equipment 10%

 Fencing and Structures 15%

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

 Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount.

 Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying 
amount and are included in profit or loss. On disposal of revalued assets, the amount in revaluation surplus 
are transferred to retained earnings.

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Financial instruments

 The Group’s accounting policies in respect of the main financial instruments are set out below.

 (i)  Trade receivables

 Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for doubtful 
receivables.

 (ii)  Investments in financial assets

 Investments are recognised on a trade-date basis and are initially measured at cost.

 Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management 
intends to dispose of the investment within twelve months of the end of the reporting period.

 Recognition and measurement

 Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs for all 
financial assets except those that are carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired 
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

 Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
carried at their fair values. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

 Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.

 Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss category are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

 Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as available-
for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 When financial assets classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in profit or loss as gains and losses on financial assets.

 The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the Company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These 
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially 
the same, discounted cash flows analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific 
circumstances.

 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in 
determining whether the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial 
assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between acquisition cost and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from 
equity and recognised in profit or loss.

 If the fair value of a previously impaired debt security classified as available-for-sale increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the 
impairment loss is reversed and the reversal recognised in profit or loss.

 Impairment losses recognised in the profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as 
available-for-sale are not reversed through the profit or loss.

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Financial instruments (continued)

 (iii)  Bank borrowings

 Borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received net of borrowings costs.

 (iv)  Trade payables

 Trade payables are stated at their fair value.

 (v)  Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand , deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

 (vi)  Share capital

 Ordinary shares

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily redeemable preference shares are classified as 
liabilities. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 
as deduction, net of tax, from proceeds. Where any group company purchases its equity share capital 
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of 
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are 
cancelled or reissued. When such shares are subsequently reissued, any net consideration received, is 
included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders. 

(f) Deferred income tax

 Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if 
the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a 
business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss, it is not accounted for.

 Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply in the period when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

(g) Revenue

 Turnover includes investment income and invoiced values of all sales of goods and services, net of discounts, 
VAT, allowances and excludes sales between group companies. 

(h) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events which it is probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated. 

(i) Foreign currencies

 Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using Mauritian 
Rupees, the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees, which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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3 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.

 Market/Price risk

 The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk due to investments held by the Group and classified 
as available-for-sale. To manage the price risk arising from the investments in equity securities, the Group 
diversifies its portfolio. 

 Sensitivity analysis

 The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in the fair value of the investments on the 
Group’s/Company’s equity. The analysis is based on the assumption that the fair value had increased/
decreased by 5%.

 Categories of investments:
 THE GROUP AND 
 THE COMPANY
  Impact on equity
  2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000
  +/- +/-

 Available-for-sale

 Listed:
 - Official Market 50,767 46,762 
 - DEM 5,536 10,273 
 Unquoted 17,203 17,635 

  73,506 74,670 

 Credit risk

 The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its receivables. The risks relating to this item are not 
material owing to the nature of the receivables.

 The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. The Group does not hold any collateral 
as security.

 Liquidity risk

 In order to ensure the adequacy of its funding requirements, cash flow forecasts are regularly prepared and 
if required, the relevant credit facilities are sought.

 Interest rate risk

 The Group does not have significant interest bearing assets and liabilities.

 Capital Risk Management

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

	 •	 to	safeguard	the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders, and

	 •	 to	provide	an	adequate	return	to	shareholders	by	pricing	products	and	services	commensurately	with	
the level of risk.

 The debt level of the Group is insignificant.

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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3 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (continued)

 Fair value estimation

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price. These instruments are 
included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily quoted equity investments classified 
as trading securities or available-for-sale.

 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible on specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an 
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

 If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included 
in level 3. 

 Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

 - Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

 - Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, dividend yield and earnings basis, are used to 
determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

 The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cashflows at the current market interest rate that is available to the 
Group for similar financial instruments.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

 Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

 The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.

 Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

 The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on determining when an investment is other-than-temporarily 
impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the Group 
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less 
than its cost, and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors 
such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

 Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market

 The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market may be determined by the Group using valuation 
techniques including third party transaction values, earnings, net asset value or discounted cash flows, 
whichever is considered to be appropriate. The Group would exercise judgment and estimates on the 
quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the 
reported fair value of financial instruments.

 Limitation of sensitivity analysis

 Sensitivity analysis in respect of market risk demonstrates the effect of a change in a key assumption while 
other assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other 
factors. It should also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should 
not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results.

 Sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are managed. 
Other limitation includes the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that 
only represent the Group’s view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with  
any certainty.
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5 PROPERTy, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 THE GROUP

   Buildings on Furniture Fencing
  Freehold  Freehold and and
  Land Land Equipment Structures Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost/Deemed Cost/Revaluation

 At January 1, 2014 &  
December 31, 2014 159,910 1,212 86 100 161,308 

 Depreciation
 At January 1, 2014 - 532 86 100 718 
 Charge for the year - 22 - - 22 

 At December 31, 2014 - 554 86 100 740 

 Net Book values 
At December 31, 2014 159,910 658 - - 160,568 

 THE GROUP

   Buildings on Furniture Fencing
  Freehold  Freehold and and
  Land Land Equipment Structures Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost/Deemed Cost/Revaluation
 At January 1, 2013 &  

December 31, 2013 159,910 1,212 86 100 161,308 

 Depreciation
 At January 1, 2013 - 510 86 100 696 
 Charge for the year - 22 - - 22 

 At December 31, 2013 - 532 86 100 718 

 Net Book values 
At December 31, 2013 159,910 680 - - 160,590 

 Freehold land was revalued in March 2013 by International Valuers Ltd (Mr. Noor Dilmohamed - Certified 
Practising Valuer) on the basis of open market value approach. The valuation considerations take into 
account the location of the site and recent evidence of sales of land in the area. If freehold land was stated 
at historical cost, the amount would be Rs 217,000 (2013: Rs 217,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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6 INvESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARy

(a) THE COMPANY

  2014 2013
 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost 
 At January 1, and December 31, 5,461 5,461 

(b) Details about the subsidiary, where it is incorporated in Mauritius, is as follows:

     Stated   
    Capital % Shareholding

  Rs’000 by Company
 Name year end Activity Description  2014 & 2013 2014 2013

 Société de December 31, Property  Share of
 Belle Mare 2014 holding interest 1,412 100% 100%

7 INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(a) THE COMPANY
  2014 2013
 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Unquoted

 Cost
 At January 1, 64,898 9,475 
 Additions 360,776 15,303 
 Transfer from deposit on investment - 45,895 
 Transfer to new associates - (5,775)
 Transfer from investment in financial assets (note 8 (a)) 119,273 - 
 Effect on acquisition of associate 70,426 - 

 At December 31, 615,373 64,898 

(b) THE GROUP
  2014 2013
 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, 128,107 69,278 
 Additions 360,776 9,528 
 Transfer from investment in financial assets (note 8 (a)) 119,273 - 
 Effect on acquisition of associate 62,580 - 
 Transfer from deposit on investment - 45,895 
 Excess of net assets acquired over consideration 69,153 - 
 Movement in reserve (14,182) 2,052 
 Share of results of associates 17,093 5,507 
 Deemed disposal - (153)
 Dividends from associates (1,880) (4,000)

 At December 31, 740,920 128,107

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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7 INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(c) The results of the following associated companies that have been included in the consolidated financial statements were 
as follows:

      Proportion of
   Nature of Country of Country of  ownership  interest
 Name year end business incorporation operation Direct Indirect
      % %

 2014

 Coroi Maurice Ltée December 31, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 50.00 -
 Scetia Holding Ltd June 30, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 40.00 -
 Business Boosters  

Investment Ltd September 30, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 35.00 -
 Cool Investment Ltd September 30, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 19.00 17.85
 ECS Global Ltd December 31, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 29.00 -
   Investment  

BBI Properties Ltd September 30, property Mauritius Mauritius 35.00 -
 Hotelest Limited December 31, Investment Mauritius Mauritius 30.12 -

 2013

 Coroi Maurice Ltée December 31, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 50.00 -
 Scetia Holding Ltd June 30, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 40.00 -
 Business Boosters  

Investment Ltd September 30, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 35.00 -
 Cool Investment Ltd September 30, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 19.00 17.85
 ECS Global Ltd December 31, Trade Mauritius Mauritius 29.00 -

(i) All the above associates are accounted for using the equity method.

(ii) For associated companies having a different year end management account have been prepared as at December 31, 
2014.

(iii) Summarised financial information in respect of each of the material associates is set out below:
         Dividends
   Non-  Non-  Profit  Other com- received 

 Current current Current current  for the prehensive during
 Name assets assets liabilities liabilities Revenue period income the year
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2014

 Coroi Maurice Ltée 149,262 41,953 54,655 7,209 258,888 5,387 (220) 1,500
 Hotelest Limited 964,745 8,510,762 1,547,061 3,944,326 976,618 103,926 (103,662) -

 2013

 Coroi Maurice Ltée 137,731 41,849 45,595 6,800 263,350 5,431 (2,728) 2,000

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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8 INvESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS

  THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY 

   2014 2013

   Listed Unquoted Total Total

   Level 1 Level 3
  Official DEM
  Market    
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Cost and valuation
 At January 1, 935,239 205,460 352,709 1,493,408 1,188,321 
 Additions 1,256 2,119 - 3,375 832 
 Disposals (392) (488) (500) (1,380) (186)
 Reclassification adjustment on  

disposal of investments (31) (166) - (197) (586)
 Transfer to investment to  

Associates (note 7(a)) - (119,273) - (119,273) - 
 Fair value adjustment 79,278 23,065 (5,615) 96,728 305,027 

 At December 31, 1,015,350 110,717 346,594 1,472,661 1,493,408 

(b) The fair value of listed available-for-sale financial assets is based on the Official Market and the DEM quoted 
prices at the end of reporting period. In assessing the fair value of unquoted available-for-sale financial 
assets, the Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each reporting date. The fair value of unquoted available-for-sale financial assets is based on 
earnings, dividend yield, net asset basis as appropriate, latest indicative exchange prices, price to Net 
Assets Value (NAV).

9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

 2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Receivable from subsidiary - - 944 442 
 Receivable from associates 1,800 2,525 1,800 2,525 
 Receivable from related parties 565 987 425 707 
 Other receivables 7,590 8,963 7,197 8,913 
 Current tax assets (Note 14(b)) 88 - 88 - 

  10,043 12,475 10,454 12,587 

 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security.
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10 STATED CAPITAL

  THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY 

  Number of Share Share
  shares Capital Premium Total
   Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Issued shares
 At December 31, 2012 & 2013 4,266,776 42,668 - 42,668 
 Proceeds from rights issue (Note 10(d)) 1,777,823 17,778 391,121 408,899 
 Issue costs - - (4,828) (4,828)

 At December 31, 2014 6,044,599 60,446 386,293 446,739 

(b) The issued ordinary shares are at par value Rs 10 and are fully paid.

(c) Share premium

 When shares are issued at a premium whether for cash or otherwise, the excess of the amount received 
over the par value of the shares, is transferred to share premium. 

(d) Rights issue

 A rights issue of 1,777,823 ordinary shares of Rs 10 each was alloted on December 29, 2014 at a premium 
of Rs 220 per share. Further to this issue, the issued share capital amounted to Rs 60,445,990 divided into 
6,044,599 ordinary shares of Rs 10 each, with a corresponding net share premium of Rs 386,292,841.

11 OTHER COMPREHENSIvE INCOME

(a) THE GROUP
  Revaluation Fair value Associates Retained 
  Reserve Reserves Reserves Earnings Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2014
 Items that may be reclassified  

subsequently to profit or loss:

 Increase in fair value of available  
for sale financial assets - 96,728 - - 96,728 

 Disposal of available for sale  
financial assets - (197) - - (197)

 Share of other comprehensive  
income of associates (14,754) - (753) 1,325 (14,182)

 Other comprehensive income  
for the year 2014 (14,754) 96,531 (753) 1,325 82,349 

 
 2013

 Items that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss:

 Increase in fair value of available  
for sale financial assets - 305,027 - - 305,027 

 Disposal of available for sale  
financial assets - (586) - - (586)

 Share of other comprehensive  
income of associates - - 2,867 (815) 2,052 

 Other comprehensive income  
for the year 2013 - 304,441 2,867 (815) 306,493 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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11 OTHER COMPREHENSIvE INCOME (continued)

(b) THE COMPANY
  Fair value
  Reserves
  Rs’000

 2014
 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

 Increase in fair value of available for sale financial assets 96,728 
 Reclassification adjustment on disposal of investments in financial assets (197)

 Other comprehensive income for the 2014 96,531 

 2013

 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

 Increase in fair value of available for sale financial assets 305,027 
 Reclassification adjustment on disposal of investments in financial assets (586)

 Other comprehensive income for the 2013 304,441 

 Revaluation reserve

 The revaluation arises on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

 Fair value reserve

 The fair value reserve, which comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets that has been recognised in other comprehensive income until the investments are 
derecognised or impaired.

 Associate reserve

 The associate reserve comprise of the Group’s share of movement in the reserves in associates.

12 RETAINED EARNINGS

  The Company Associates Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, 2014 528,835 59,679 588,514 
 Effect of changes on acquisition of associate - (7,846) (7,846)
 Profit retained for the year 24,322 15,213 39,535 
 Exceptional item - 69,153 69,153 
 Other comprehensive income - 1,325 1,325 
 Dividends (note 15) (34,134) - (34,134)

 At December 31, 2014 519,023 137,524 656,547 

Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014
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13 TRADE AND OTHER PAyABLES

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Amount due to related parties 4,795 1,415 4,795 1,415 
 Rights issue costs accrued 2,648 - 2,648 - 
 Other payables 2,772 1,412 2,767 1,408 

  10,215 2,827 10,210 2,823 

 The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair values.

14 TAXATION

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Taxation - amount recognised in  
profit or loss

 Current tax on the adjusted
 profit for the year 401 619 401 619 
 Underprovision of last year 88 - 88 - 

  489 619 489 619 

 The tax on the Group’s and Company’s profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the basic rate of the Company as follows:

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Profit before taxation 109,177 44,842 24,811 43,488 
 Less:
 - Share of results in associates (17,093) (5,507) - - 

  92,084 39,335 24,811 43,488 

 Tax calculated at a rate of 15%
 (2013: 15%) 13,813 5,900 3,722 6,523 
 Income not subject to tax (15,371) (6,436) (5,280) (7,036)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,981 1,155 1,981 1,132 
 Underprovision of previous year’s charge 66 - 66 - 

 Tax charge 489 619 489 619 
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14 TAXATION (continued)

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(b) Taxation - amount recognised in
 statements of financial position
 At January 1, 123 437 123 437 
 Current tax on the adjusted
 profit for the year 401 619 401 619 
 Underprovision 88 - 88 - 
 Tax paid (211) (890) (211) (890)
 Tax deducted at source (489) (43) (489) (43)

 At December 31, (88) 123 (88) 123 

15 DIvIDEND
  THE GROUP AND
  THE COMPANY

  2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Amounts recognised as distributions to equityholders in the year:
 Proposed and paid: Rs 8.00 per share 34,134 34,134 

16 OPERATING PROFIT

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Operating profit is arrived at after

 crediting:
 Investment income
 - Official Market 23,508 23,892 23,508 23,892 
 - DEM 4,711 4,492 4,711 4,492 
 - Unquoted 3,282 13,874 5,162 17,874 
 Rental income 1,080 1,080 - - 

  32,581 43,338 33,381 46,258 
 Share of profit from Société - - 987 922 
 Profit/(loss) on disposal/deemed disposal  

of financial assets 1,669 (153) 1,669 - 
 Other operating income 1,121 2,275 1,121 2,275 
 Interest income 2,035 2,207 2,035 2,207 

 and charging:
 Depreciation 22 22 - - 
 Other administrative expenses 14,057 8,310 13,986 8,174 
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17 FINANCE COSTS

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Interest on overdraft 396 - 396 - 

18 EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

 Associate:

 During the year, the Company acquired 18.51% of the share capital of Hotelest Limited, bringing its total 
shareholding to 30.12%.

 The gain arising as a result of consolidating Hotelest Limited as an associate is as follows:

  THE GROUP

  2014
  Rs’000

 Excess of net assets acquired over consideration 69,153 

19 EARNINGS PER SHARE

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
   Restated  Restated

 Earnings per share - including
 effects of Rights issue                                   Rs 22.89 9.66 5.12 9.36 

 Profit attributable to
 equityholders                                        Rs’000 108,688 44,223 24,322 42,869 

 Weighted average number of ordinary
 shares - including effects of Rights issue 4,748,285 4,579,724 4,748,285 4,579,724 
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20 NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Cash generated from operations
 Reconciliation of profit before taxation
 to cash generated from operations:
 Profit before taxation 109,177 44,842 24,811 43,488 

 Adjustments for:

 Depreciation 22 22 - - 
 (Profit)/loss on disposal of investments (1,669) 153 (1,669) - 
 Gain on share exchange (150) (646) (150) (646)
 Excess of net assets acquired over
 consideration (69,153) - - - 
 Interest payable 396 - 396 - 
 Interest receivable (2,035) (2,207) (2,035) (2,207)
 Share of result of associates net of dividend (15,213) (1,507) - - 

  21,375 40,657 21,353 40,635 
 Changes in working capital
 - trade and other receivables 2,520 (4,210) 2,221 (4,605)
 - trade and other payables 4,740 (1,928) 4,739 (1,933)

 Cash generated from operations 28,635 34,519 28,313 34,097 

(b) Non cash transactions

 The principal non-cash transactions are the corporate actions which are treated as additions and disposals 
to investment. Additions amounted to Rs 1,329k and disposals amounted to Rs 880k.

(c) Bank balances and cash

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2014 2013 2014 2013
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cash in hand and at bank 74,801 33,594 73,848 32,963 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Year ended December 31, 2014

22 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The company has no separate business or geographical segment.

23 THREE yEAR SUMMARy OF PUBLISHED RESULTS AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 
  2014 2013 2012
 THE GROUP Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Statement of profit or loss
 Revenue 32,581 43,338 41,675 
 Share of results of associates 17,093 5,507 2,913 
 Profit before taxation 109,177 44,842 156,326 
 Taxation (489) (619) (667)
 Group profit 108,688 44,223 155,659 
 Profit attributable to equityholders 108,688 44,223 155,659 

(b) Statement of financial position
 Non-current assets 2,374,149 1,782,105 1,464,106 
 Current assets 84,844 46,069 49,728 

 Total assets 2,458,993 1,828,174 1,513,834 

 Owners’ interest 2,448,778 1,825,224 1,508,642 
 Current liabilities 10,215 2,950 5,192 

 Total equity and liabilities 2,458,993 1,828,174 1,513,834 

(c) Financial Highlights
 Dividends per share                                      (Rs) 8.00  8.00  7.00 
 Earnings per share *                                      (Rs) 22.89  9.66  33.99 
 Net assets per share                                      (Rs) 405.12  427.78  353.58 
 Number of shares in issue 6,044,599  4,266,776  4,266,776 

 *Includes effects of rights issue for financial year 2014 and 2013. Figures for 2013 have been restated.
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Directors

George J. Dumbell (66) – Independent director, Chairperson
Appointed director in December 2005 and Chairperson in 2006
Mr Dumbell is an Associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers (UK) with over 46 years of financial and 
commercial experience, including 34 years in various senior management positions, within the HSBC Group 
across the globe. In 1994, he was seconded for two and a half years to Eurochambres, Association of European 
Chambers of Commerce and Industry, in Belgium, as Deputy Secretary General and Managing Director of its 
business arm – an organisation representing over 14 million companies across Western, Central and Eastern 
Europe. Mr Dumbell is a former director of several financial institutions in Asia and Europe, and of a number 
of listed companies in Mauritius. He sat on the founding board of the Mauritius Institute of Directors, and 
is currently a fellow of this Institute and member of its Directors’ Forum. In 2003, he undertook a two-year 
consultancy contract with the Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd in the field of Risk Management. Mr Dumbell is 
currently a director of the ChrysCapital Group of Companies.

Jan Boullé (58) – Group Head of Projects and Development, Executive director
Appointed in 2004
Mr Boullé qualified as Ingénieur statisticien économiste in France and holds a Diplôme de 3ème cycle, sciences 
économiques, from Université Laval, Quebec, Canada. He joined the Constance Group in 1984 and is at present 
the Group Head of Projects and Development. He is also a director of several major companies in Mauritius.
Directorships in other companies listed on the official market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd:
Alteo Ltd
Phoenix Beverages Ltd.

Nicolas Boullé (55) – Independent director
Appointed in 2014
A qualified notary and practicing since 1990, Me Boullé has worked in close collaboration in the first instance 
with Me Pierre Doger de Spéville and thereafter with Me Jacques Montocchio until 2002. Me Boullé now 
practices independently but in close collaboration with three other colleagues.

Marc Freismuth (63) – Independent director 
Appointed in 2007
Mr Freismuth holds an MPhil degree in Economics from Sorbonne (Paris) and an agrégation in Economics and 
Management. He was a lecturer at the University of Montpellier (France) until July 1988, when he decided to 
join the University of Mauritius as Lecturer of Management and Finance until July 1994. While in the latter
post, Mr Freismuth participated in the setting-up of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius as consultant to the Stock 
Exchange Commission and member of the Listing Committee. After six years in Djibouti as head of a training 
project, he taught Hospitality Management at the University of Réunion from 2000 to 2005. Since this date, he 
is working as a private consultant in management and finance. He is also a director of several other listed and 
non-listed companies. Mr Freismuth was the chairperson of the Audit Committee until 11 September 2014.
Directorships in other companies listed on the official market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd:
United Basalt Products Ltd.

Maxime Rey (62) – Non-executive director, chairperson of the Audit Committee 
Appointed in 2014
Mr Rey started an accounting career in 1973 in Mauritius, first in Auditing (with Kemp Chatteris/Touche Ross & 
DCDM/Coopers & Lybrand), and then in the Sugar Industry (with Deep River Beau Champs S.E.). Immigrating 
to South Africa in 1981, he worked for Kuehne and Nagel (Pty) Ltd, the South African arm of a leading global 
provider of innovative and fully integrated supply chain solutions. He was appointed Group Financial Controller 
in 1989 and Director in 1992. 
Back in Mauritius in 1993, he joined the Swan Group, one of the market leaders in the local insurance sector, 
where he is at present holding the position of Senior Manager, Group Finance, whilst also heading the Loans 
and Legal Departments of the Group. He serves as a director of a number of companies in the commercial, 
financial, investment, sugar and tourism sectors, and is a member of various board committees.
Directorships in other companies listed on the official market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd:
Lux Island Resorts Ltd
Mauritius Freeport Development Company Ltd.

Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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Directors (continued)

Clément D. Rey (45) – Head of Corporate Affairs, Executive director and Group Compliance Officer

Appointed in 2003

Mr Rey holds a Bachelor’s and a Master’s degree in Business Law from the United Kingdom. Before joining the 
Constance Group as Head of Corporate Affairs, he held a similar position within the Ciel Group, one of the largest 
industrial groups in Mauritius. In his present capacity, he has overall responsibility for corporate transactions and 
regulatory matters relating to the member companies of the Constance Group. He is a director of a number of 
companies in the commercial and financial sectors and is a member of various board committees. 

Jean Ribet (55) – Group Chief Executive Officer, Executive director

Appointed in 2007

Mr Ribet is a member of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants and holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree. He joined the Constance Group as Group Financial Controller in 1991. He was appointed Group Chief 
Executive Officer in 2004 and has overall responsibility for the agro-industrial, tourism and investment activities 
of the Constance Group. 

Directorships in other companies listed on the official market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd:

Ireland Blyth Ltd.

Georgina Rogers (52) – Independent director

Appointed in 1998

Mrs Rogers holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Natal in South Africa. She practised as 
an accountant until 1995 and is now involved in the realisation of real-estate development projects.

Noël Adolphe Vallet (49) – Non-executive director

Appointed in 1997

After studying Management in South Africa, Mr Vallet gained professional experience in the UK before returning 
to Mauritius to take up the position of the Manager of Fleurs des Tropiques Exports Ltée, a company which was 
then part of the Constance Group. He held that position for two years before moving on to a number of other 
Management functions within the Group. He was responsible, as Project Manager, for setting up Mauritius’s 
sugar museum, L’Aventure du Sucre. He left the Group in 2006 and now runs his own business in the events 
industry, as Managing Director of Bedouin Tents and Rocket Fireworks. Mr Vallet is very involved in sports 
activities and holds positions of responsibility in a few clubs and associations.

Senior Management

Kevin Chan Too (37) – Head of Finance

Mr Chan Too is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He joined the Constance Group 
in 2007 as Group Financial Accountant and is currently its Head of Finance with main responsibility for the 
finance, accounting, treasury and internal control functions. Prior to joining the Constance Group, Mr Chan 
Too held various finance and accounting positions within listed companies dealing in the property, finance and 
investment sectors.

Profile of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Proxy Form

I/We

of

being a member of Belle Mare Holding Limited, hereby appoint

or failing him/her,

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual Meeting of the Company to be held on 
Monday, 8 June 2015 at 10.30 a.m., and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We desire this proxy to be used (see note 1) as follows:

For Against Abstain

3 To consider and approve the Audited Financial Statements of the Company 
and the Group at 31 December 2014

4 To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the external 
auditors, BDO & Co., who have expressed their willingness to continue to act 
as external auditors of the Company and will be automatically reappointed

5 To approve directors’ remuneration

6 By separate resolutions and in accordance with article 21.2 (1) of the 
Constitution of the Company, to re-elect the following persons who, retiring 
by rotation, offer themselves for re-election as directors of the Company:

a. Mr Marc Freismuth

b. Mr Jean Ribet

c. Mr Noel Adolphe Vallet

Dated this                                         day of                                     2015

Signature (s)

Notes

1 Please mark in the appropriate box how you wish to vote. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will exercise his/
her discretion as to how he/she votes or whether or not he/she abstains from voting.

2 The instrument appointing a proxy, any general power of attorney or written resolution appointing a representative should reach 
the Company Secretary, at the registered office of the Company, 5th Floor, Labama House, 35 Sir William Newton Street, Port 
Louis, not less than twenty four hours prior to the time scheduled for the meeting, i.e. by 10.30 a.m. on Friday 5 June 2015 
(being the last business day before the meeting). In default, the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

 For the purpose of this Annual Meeting, the directors have resolved, in compliance with section 120 of the Companies Act 2001, 
that the shareholders who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting and attend such meeting shall be those shareholders 
whose names are registered in the share register of the Company as at 12 May 2015.
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